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T R IA L  OF ROWAN C A SH ELL, G EN TLEM A N , ATTO RN EY. 1 4 9

according to the same authority, for twenty years, his death taking place 
in 1 708, when he must have been of a very advanced age.

In a tract published in 1708, and preserved in the H aliday collection 
in the Royal Irish Academy, there are some verses, entitled “A n  eilege on 
the pig that follow’d Lord  Chief Baron Hen and Baron Worth the 
Connaught Circuit, and so to Dublin.” T hey seem to be allegorical, and 
to refer to the death of the Chief Baron’s clerk, or registrar as he would 
now be called.

The late Mr. Thomas Rice Henn, of Paradise Hill, county Clare, long 
Recorder of Galway, was of opinion that the Chief Baron was related to 
the holders of the baronetcy, now extinct, conferred on Sir H enry Hene, 
recte Henn, of Winkfield, Berks, and believed him to be) an ancestor of his 
own. A s tending to prove the latter theory, it may be mentioned that the 
Clare property was granted in 1685 to a certain Richard Henn, and that 
the Chief Baron in the later years of his life as a judge always chose the 
Connaught, which brought him near that part of the country, as his circuit.

[A u th o rities:— “ C arte and E ssex  P a p e rs ’ ’ ; “ C alendar of D om estic State 
P ap ers” ; “ Notes and Q ueries” ; “ R ecords of the In n er T e m p le ” ; B urke ’ s 
“ E xtinct B aro n etcy”  and “ Landed  G e n try .” ]

£ r i a l  oj T^owan C ashell,(I) Gentleman, A ttorn ey,
jfor tbe M tlfu l flbutber of Ibenrp Hrtbur ©’Connor, 3Esq.,(2) late 

of Cralee, in a Duel, trieb at tbe tlbarcb H ssi3es of 
Cralee, 1816, before /iDr. Justice Dag.(3)

Contributed b y  J .  F .  F U L L E R ,  E s q ., F .S .A . ,  from  a  contem porary M S. in  his 

possession, and to which he has added notes id entifying the persons m entioned.

Counsel for the Prosecution, Messrs. Quin,h) Bennet,d and Franks ; (6) 
for the Defence, Messrs. O’Connell,h) Rice,(8) Pennafather,fe) D a y , (l°) 

King,(lI> Lyqe,(l2> and O ’Loghlen.hs)

H E  prisoner was arraigned upon the following indict­
ment : T hat he, Rowan Cashell, did on the 7th day of 
August, in the 55th year of the K ing ’s reign, at Bally- 
seedy, in the county of Kerry, feloniously, wilfully, and 
of his malice aforethought, assault Henry Arthur 
O’Connor, Esq., and that he, the said Rowan Cashell, 
with a pistol charged with gunpowder and leaden shot, 

feloniously, wilfully, and of malice aforethought, did shoot and discharge

This content downloaded from www.corkhist.ie

All use subject to CHAS Terms and Conditions

Digital content (c) CHAS 2013



1 5 0  CORK H ISTO RICAL AND ARCHÆOLOGICAL SO CIETY.

it, too, against and upon the said Henry Arthur O’Connor, and give him 
one mortal wound in and upon the right side of his body, of which he then 
and there instantly did languish, and languishing did live from the said 
7th day of August until the gth day of August in the said year, and then 
died, against the peace of our Lord  the King, his crown and dignity.

T h e prisoner was permitted to remain in the sheriff’s box, and having 
pleaded not guilty, the following jury was sworn : —

Daniel Mahony^-t) (fore- Stephen G allw ey/,8) John E a g a r Z - e )

man). M yles M a h o n y / 1®  Edward Purcell/2®
Jam es Law lor/1®  K ean M ahony/2®  Edward M orphy/2®
Godfrey Leonard/1®  Carroll Goff/2®
Jam es Gorham /1®  Michael DeCoursey/2®

Mr. Quin, in a forcible and eloquent speech, stated the case for the 
prosecution, and the following witnesses were then examined.

Morgan O ’Connell Busteed, E sq ./26>examined by Mr. Franks.— I am 
a surgeon. Knew the deceased, and know the prisoner ; deceased died 
of a gunshot wound. I attended him for two days ; he died the gth of 
August. I  was within a few yards of him at Ballyseedy when he was 
wounded ; the crowd prevented me from seeing by whom he was 
wounded. I  heard shots before that. I saw Mr. O’Connor and Mr. 
Cashell placed on the ground. I did not see them armed, as when they 
were placed I retired. I  quitted, and retired about twenty yards off ; after 
the shots I saw Mr. O’Connor lying on the ground wounded. I examined 
the wound, it was in the right side, rather backward ; it was the cause of 
his death. I  at once saw it was mortal. On my approaching him, he 
said, “ It is all over with me.” During my attendance I consider he knew 
not his situation ; but towards the end of his life he wished for a clergy­
man. The next day after he said he would prosecute Mr. Cashell at the 
assizes ; he was then swearing informations, and I did not think that a 
person who knew he was to die would express himself so ; he that evening 
was attended b y  a clergyman ; he apprehended death on the ground, and 
said, “ Mr. Cashell has dealt very unfairly by me, having taken aim at me 
after my shot was fired” ; he was removed to Tralee to his father’s house. 
I  attended him there ; he said then he would prosecute Mr. Cashell for 
an assault ; from what I heard him say when he was swearing the infor­
mations, I  do not think he expected he would die ; the information was 
read for him, and he was sworn to it.

Cross-examined by Mr. Pennefather.— I heard two shots. I  have no 
doubt one was fired by the deceased. I was not by when Mr. Cashell 
was struck by Mr. O ’Connor, nor when Mr. Cashell was posted as a 
coward ; there were a number of persons on the ground ; there was an
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T R IA L  OF ROWAN C A SH ELL, GEN TLEM AN , ATTO RN EY. 1 5 1

interval between the two shots ; the last shot could have followed quicker 
than it did.

Lieutenant Richard Quill, R .N ./2®  examined b y  Mr. Bennet.— I knew 
Mr. O’Connor, and know the prisoner. I remember they had a difference 
on the 5 th of August in the club billiard room about a half-crown b e t I 
was playing billiards with Mr. Cashell between 1 1  and 12  o’clock at night. 
I was backed by Mr. O ’Connor for half a crown against. W e were 
playing a rubber o f three games. Mr. Cashell was eight to love o f the first 
game, and offered to. bet two to one, which bet I accepted, and lost that 
game. I won the two next, which ended the rubber. Mr. O ’Connor 
then said to Cashell, “ You owe me one bet.” Cashell said not. O’Connor 
said he did. Cashell said he got quit by betting two to one. O’Connor 
asked me and the marker if we knew of the bet of two to one, observing 
if we said so he was satisfied ; neither of us knew of any such bet. Cashell 
still insisted that he won the bet ; O’Connor then offered to end the 
dispute b y  tossing up, whether it was a bet or not. Cashell refused, 
saying he had not lost. O ’Connor insisted he did, saying, “ B y  God, I 
must not be humbugged, and you must pay me or not play at this table.” 
Cashell replied, “ Y ou are a brat of a boy, and not worth my notice. I  will 
make this a business with your father.” O ’Connor then replied, “ There 
is not such a difference between our ages that I would not fight my own 
battle ; and I must be paid.” Cashell said he paid everyone. O ’Connor 
said he did not know that, as he did not pay him, and he could only 
praise the ford as he found it. Cashell then said, “ Y ou  are a brat of a 
boy ; I  could gain no credit b y  bringing you before the county.” 
O’Connor replied, “ Y ou  are a damned forward fellow for telling me so.” 
“ By God,” said Cashell, “ if you were a man, or worth my notice, I  would 
kick you out of the room.”

Cross-examined by Mr. Pennefather.— I did not hear Cashell say he 
would complain to O ’Connor’s father. I had no conversation on the 
subject with the prisoner’s brother, Mr. Robert Cashell. I was not on 
speaking terms with that gentleman for some time previous.

Lieutenant Arthur Morris/2®  examined by Mr. Quin.— I am a L ieu­
tenant in the K erry  Militia. I  knew deceased, and know the prisoner. 
I went in August last for the purpose of arranging a dispute between 
them. I  went b y  O’Connor’s directions. I met Cashell on the Mall, 
said I wanted to speak to him, put my hand under his arm in a familiar 
manner, and walked with him into the Green. I said to him, “ There is a 
dispute between you and O’Connor— I wish it was arranged.” Cashell 
replied he was too much of a boy, and he would have nothing to do with 
him. I replied, “ If you offended O ’Connor, surely you cannot treat him 
in that way.” H e persisted in saying he was a boy. I offered to leave
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1 5 2  CORK H ISTO RICAL AND ARCHÆOLOGICAL SOCIETY.

it to three or four gentlemen ; he persisted in refusing to make any 
atonement to a boy, and I then went in quest of Mr. Quill ; when I found 
him, I went back to the Green, where I found Mr. Cashell, his brother, 
and Mr. Dan McGillycuddy. Mr. Cashell still refused either to apologise 
or to meet a boy. I  do not think I am bound to tell anything that may 
implicate myself (the Court ruled he was not). Mr. Cashell laid a whip 
he had in his hand on my shoulder, and said, “ T ak e  that as a horse­
whipping.” I walked off a few paces, when I was called back by Mr. 
Cashell’s brother, and a reconciliation took place between us, I  consider­
ing Cashell would arrange with O ’Connor. After some conversation, in 
which he declined any accommodation with my friend, we disagreed, and 
he laid the whip on my shoulder again. (Court— Do you mean to say 
he laid the whip on you a second time? I do, my Lord.) I  then left the 
Green, and I only again saw Mr. Cashell at a distance. I  was at the duel 
in the next field. I  saw Mr. O ’Connor fall. I  heard shots. I  cannot 
swear as to the interval between the shots; my mind was too much 
occupied to ascertain the exact time between.

Cross-examined by Mr. Stephen H. Rice.— I believe O’Connor posted 
Cashell as a coward. I  heard him say he would. I  believe he followed 
the posting b y  striking him. A fter the posting, I heard him say he struck 
Cashell, to make him fight (to Mr. Bennet). I heard O ’Connor say that, 
in consequence of Cashell’s posting him, O ’Connor, he struck him ; all the 
posting was after the conversation in the Green.

Thom as Fitzgerald O’Connor, Esq., exam ined by Mr. Quin.— The de­
ceased was my brother. I know the prisoner. I  was with my brother on 
Sunday when he met the prisoner ; the dispute was on Saturday night. 
On Sunday, the deceased walked, leaning with one arm on me and the 
other on my brother, James, for the purpose of shaking a whip over 
Cashell, in consequence of a notice he had posted. W e came up with 
Mr. Cashell on the Parade, where he was walking with some gentlemen. 
M y brother said “ Mr. Cashell ” ; on hearing his name pronounced, he 
turned round and made a blow of a whip at my brother, on which my 
brother struck him. This was done before my brother made any attempt, 
or even disengaged his arms from us. Mr. Cashell is a member of the 
club. H ere a paper was handed to witness, which was as follows : —  
“ Notice. Arthur O'Connor is a boy not worthy of the notice of a man, 
and the Gentlemen, of the County of K erry are desired to take notice that 
I horsewhipped his friend, Mr. Arthur Morris, a Lieutenant of the K erry 
Regiment. Signed, Rowan P. Cashell.”  I took that paper down off the 
wall of the club room on Sunday evening ; this was after what took place 
on the Mall. I did not see it until I took it down. I was present when 
Mr. Daniel M cGillycuddy delivered a message to my brother. I went to
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Ballyseedy with m y brother. Mr. Jam es Y ie ld in g (2®  was my brother’s 
friend. The arrangement made between the seconds was that both were 
to fire on pronouncing the words “ Ready. Fire.” Mr. Yielding was to 
give the word, and they were to fire together instantly ; this was agreed 
to by both principals, but Cashell said he would prefer each should fire 
at his own discretion ; this was not agreed to, and each well understood 
they were to fire upon Mr. Yielding’s giving thei words “ Ready. Fire.” 
The seconds were 12 or 14  yards from the principals. I saw Cashell 
and his second load three cases of pistols. Mr. Cashell loaded some 
himself. While he was so doing, the deceased and my brother, James, 
Were walking at some distance. I heard two shots, one did not go off 
until some time after the other. I can describe what occurred ; it was 
thus : When I saw the parties placed on their ground, I was walking 
away when I heard the words “ Ready, Fire,” distinctly, and instantly a 
shot. I turned round to see who fired, and I saw by the smoke of my 
brother’s pistol that he had fired, and missed Mr. Cashell. I turned away, 
not wishing to witness the second shot, which I supposed would have 
followed at once ; finding the shot was not returned, I faced about again, 
and directed in my anxiety my eyes towards my brother. I saw him standing 
with his pistol taken down from the present. I then saw him raise it (here 
witness described the elevation of the pistol), and while it was so poised 
in the air I heard the other shot, and saw him fall. I had time to observe 
all this between the shots. M y brother had no pistol in his hands but 
the one he discharged. Cashell had, when placed on the ground, a case 
of pistols, which I then thought casual, as he charged them himself. It 
was when my brother raised his arm that Cashell fired, and my brother 
fell.

Cross-examined by Mr. O’Connell.— I am intended for the bar. I 
have served terms at the K ing’s Inns. I do not know that in cases such 
as this counsel for the prosecution can address the jury, while for the 
defence they cannot ; if such be the case, it would afford an advantage. 
I was, of course, very much interested in this affair. W e formed the 
intention of horsewhipping Cashell on Sunday ; it was the intention to 
make the insult as public as possible ; this paper is in my writing ; it 
would be very difficult to mistake the meaning of it. I made it as de­
grading as I thought the exigency of the case required. I believed if he 
had any feeling he must have felt it. The following was then put into 
witness’s hand, and read by him : — “ Having been grievously insulted by 
Mr Rowan Cashell, and having had recourse to that mode of redress 
usually resorted to in civilized society, I have been denied the satisfac­
tion of a gentleman, for the very serious crime of not exceeding 18 years 
of age ; in consequence of this, as well as the additional insult put upon
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me by the outrage on my friend, I felt myself under the necessity of 
posting Mr. Cashell as a coward and a bully, and therefore unfit for the 
society of gentlemen. Signed, Henry A. O’Connor.” I should not wait for 
a month after receiving such a paper. I cannot speak as to the duration 
of my resentment, but it would continue until I acquitted myself as a 
gentleman. Cashell was struck with a slight stick or switch. M y 
brother and myself were with the deceased ; one servant was there, but 
he did not come by our desire, nor did I  prevent him to interfere ; there 
may have been a huzza ; my mind was too much occupied at the time ; the 
blow was in consequence of the prisoner’s posting. I  would have rather 
that Mr. Cashell had put the offence in his pocket than that my brother’s 
life should be exposed. I should have considered Cashell a degraded 
man if he did not fight, for from the extremities matters were driven to, 
I considered a duel inevitable, when every possible exertion for an amic­
able adjustment with the proper person proved ineffectual. W e acted 
with that determination ; we conceived we were bound to do so. I  turned 
round when I heard the first shot ; there were several gentlemen on the 
ground ; my eyes were not on the parties from the time the word was 
given until m y brother was shot. Mr. Yielding gave the word ; he stood 
about the centre ; the seconds walked towards each other, in order to 
keep the parties covered until they met, and then verged off to one side. 
I  cannot say how much he either converged Or diverged. T am not aware 
tha t my brother got any instructions as to any particular mode of firing.

Jam es O’Connor, Esq., examined by Mr. Franks.— I am brother to the 
deceased. I  am acquainted with the handwriting of Mr. Cashell (here the 
posting written b v  Mr. Cashell was handed to witness, and he proved it 
to be his handwriting). I was at the duel. T saw both on the ground. 
T hear the word “ F ir e ” given. I  saw my brother fire, on which Mr. 
Cashell turned round, stepped forward a bit, and took deliberate aim. I 
was on familiar terms with Cashell, he used to frequent my father’s house, 
and dined twice there in the week the dispute occurred.

Cross-examined by Mr. Day.— There was a posting up on Sunday 
reflecting on Cashell ; it charged him with cowardice: I would not feel
easy under such a charge. I  think he ought have taken notice of it. I 
would do so. I  accompanied my brother for the purpose of horsewhipping 
Cashell ; my other brother did the same. I  never heard my brother 
Thomas say that everything was done to degrade Cashell before what 
he said on the table just now. I took no part in helping my brother to 
insult Cashell. I did not go to insult him. I went with m y brother at 
the time he intended to horsewhip Cashel.

Samuel Morris, Esq.,<3°> Provost of Tralee, examined by Mr. Bennet.—•
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Mr. Morris observed that, as a magistrate, he, should claim the protection 
of the court before he could give his evidence.

His Lordship— I cannot answer for the consequences.
Mr. Bennet— M y Lord, we shall be deprived of some of our best wit­

nesses if some such expedient is not resorted to.
Court— They may be examined in such a way as will not implicate 

them.
Examination continued— I remember the morning of the duel. I was 

not on the ground, I was in an adjoining field at some distance. I heard 
two shots ; there was an interval between them ; there were three seconds,
I heard the words “ Ready, Fire,” and instantly after the word “ Fire,” one 
shot.

Cross-examined by Mr. King.— I heard the words “ Ready, F ir e ” ; the 
first shot was instantly after the word “ F  ire ” was given. The prisoner 
had time to change his position between the two shots.

Mr. Joseph O’Connor, examined by Mr. Quin.— I was at the duel on 
the 7th of August, about nine o’clock. I saw them on the ground ; they 
were armed with pistols ; the prisoner had two pistols, the deceased one.
I saw them fire. I heard the words “ Ready, F  ire,” given distinctly. Mr. 
O’Connor fired on the word being given. I conceive his shot was simul­
taneous with the word “ F  ire ” ; that is, the shot went off as closely to the 
word “ F ir e ” as possible,; if it means otherwise or more than that, I do 
not know the meaning of the word ; the shot went off almost instantly 
with the word ; they stood sidelong. I saw them present their pistols. Mr. 
Cashell did not discharge his pistol at the w ord“ F ir e ” ; there were three or 
four seconds of time between the shots. I saw the prisoner change his 
position. I did not see him advance a step. T hey both stood in a 
similar position, side to side. A fter O ’Connor fired, Cashell brought his 
body from that position to a square position thus (here witness squared 
his body), and fired ; they both had levelled their pistols together.

Cross-examined by Mr. O’Loghlen. I  meant by the word “ simul­
taneous” that the shot was as quick as possible after the word “ Fire.”

William Collis, Esq./uIH igh Sheriff, examined by Mr. Franks.— I was 
present at the duel ; was not then sheriff. I had my back turned to the 
parties when put upon the ground. I heard two shots ; there were about 
three, seconds between them. I did not see who fired the shots.

Not cross-examined.
Francis Twiss, Esq.,b®exam ined by Mr. Bennet.— I saw Mr. Cashell 

on Sunday, the 6th of August, come out of the club room with a paper 
in his hand ; it was the posting, and I told him it was very improper to 
introduce the name of Arthur Morris. I was at Ballyseedy the following 
morning, and I heard the shots ; you might count two between the shots,
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1 5 6  CORK H ISTO RICAL AND ARCHÆOLOGICAL SOCIETY.

as “ One. Tw o.” I think I could count three (to a juror). I think it 
may be possible that Mr. Cashell did not hear the word “ Fire,” but very 
improbable.

John O’Connell, Esq.,(33)examined by Mr. Quin.— I heard the shots 
fired on the morning of the 7th August. I heard the words “ Ready, 
F  ire,” given ; they were given in an audible voice ; I heard them dis­
tinctly. I heard one shot immediately on hearing the word “ F ire” ; there 
was a pause between the shots ; in my conception there was time enough 
to take’ aim. Some may take more time for aim than others.

Cross examined by Mr. O ’Connell.— I saw the affair on the Mall. I 
saw a crowd and went up to it. I was walking on the Mall with some 
gentlemen, and saw Mr. O ’Connor address something to Mr. Cashell ; 
immediately Mr. Cashell struck Mr. O ’Connor. I then saw Mr. Jam es 
O’Connor hold Mr. Cashell whilst the, deceased gave him a blow of a 
stick. There was a great ferment excited in the town by the affair. I 
saw Mr. O’Connor put a posting on the Castle gate. I heard a shout 
when Mr. Cashell was struck, and I saw Mr. Thomas O ’Connor check a 
man who, I suppose, was their servant for attempting to interfere. From 
the provocation Mr. Cashell got, I  believe the heat of blood may have 
continued until the firing of the shot. T o  the Court— I heard a noise on 
the, Mall and I went up. I considered there must be unpleasant pro­
ceedings, I  saw the deceased address the prisoner. I could not tell the 
words he said, but Mr. Cashell struck him ; it was about five o’clock in 
the evening.

John Hurly, Jun., E sq .(34) examined by Mr. Franks.— I was present at 
the duel between Mr. Cashell and Mr. O ’Connor. I heard the shots ; 
there was a lapse of time between them. I cannot be accurate as to the 
time ; a person may have time enough to take aim, another person may 
take more time. I think there was time enough to take aim. I was 
outside the crowd in the, ground. I  thought that both shots were fired 
together when I heard but the one report. I stepped inside the crowd to 
see what happened, and on getting within the people I heard the other 
shot fired, and saw deceased fall (to a juror). I am a sportsman. I think 
that some men from practice or nerve take less time in taking aim than 
others.

Counsel for Prosecution.— M y Lord, we close, although the prosecu­
tion is anxious to call more witnesses of the numerous catalogue before us.

T H E  D E F E N C E .

The first witness called was Mr. William Mason,<35)examined by Mr. 
O’Connell.'— I was at the duel ; I heard the word given. I heard the 
word “ R e a d y ” given distinctly. I did not hear the, word “ Fire.” Mr.
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Yielding gave the word. I was nearer to Mr. Yielding than Mr. Cashell 
was. It was more likely I would hear it than Mr. Cashell as being nearer. 
The first shot was fired after the word “ Ready,” which was given in a 
confused manner; it was Mr. O’Connor fired that shot. Mr. Cashell 
fired in a short time after. I could count two between the shots. I think 
Mr. O’Connor’s shot going off before the word “ F ire "  would be enough 
to disconcert Mr. Cashell. T h e word “ R e a d y ” was so distinct that I 
heard there was scarcely time to hear the word “ F ir e ” before Mr. 
O’Connor fired. I did not see Mr. Cashell move on his ground. I ob­
served no change of position. I thought the duel a fair one. I think 
that when Mr. O ’Connor fired before his time Mr. Cashell had a right to 
take as much time as he chose. I  cannot say Mr. O’Connor fired before 
his time.

.Cross-examined by Mr. Quin.— I could count two between the shots. 
I heard the word “ Ready.” I did not hear the word “ Fire.” I  cannot 
swear the word “ F ir e ” was not given ; but if given, it was said in a low 
voice. Mr. John O’Connell was there, and near me. If Mr. O'Connell 
swore the word “ F ire ” was given before Mr. O ’Connor fired, I  would 
believe it was, but I was as attentive as Mr. O ’Connell ; I will not swear 
the word “ F ir e ” was not pronounced. There was a sufficient time be- 
tweeen the, word “ R e a d y ” being given and the firing of Mr. O’Connor’s 
shot to admit the word “ F ire ”  being pronounced. I swear that if  one 
fired before his time, 1  considered the other justifiable in taking what time 
he pleased. The compact was that the parties should fire together after 
the words “ Ready, Fire.” Mr. O ’Connor fired after the word “ R e a d y ” ; 
the words are always given quickly, but there is a manner of giving them. 
The prisoner did take time after Mr. O ’Connor’s shot ; he must have 
taken time; as O’Connor fired first. The prisoner is my relation, and I 
heard my father say so was O’Connor. I  never told anyone that I can 
now recollect that it was not a fair duel. I  never did, and if I  did I told 
a lie. I spoke to many the morning after the duel. I did not speak to 
anyone in Abbeydorney. Upon my oath, I  did not speak to anyone in 
Abbeydorney, for I had no acquaintances there ; but I met Mr. William 
Day and Mr. Upton*3®  there, and I told them of the melancholy business. 
I told them the w ay Arthur O ’Connor was shot by Cashell. I do not 
recollect saying the duel was not as it ought to be. I told them of 
nothing but the meeting and the event. I might have told them of the 
prisoner’s coolness of manner, and of his squibbing his own pistols, but I 
do not remember.

Eusebius McGillycuddy, Esq./3®  examined by Mr. Rice.— I was on the 
ground. Mr. Jam es Yielding gave the word. I  heard but one word, and 
on that word being given Mr. O ’Connor fired. I do not know what the
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1 5 8  CORK H ISTO RICAL AND ARCHÆOLOGICAL SO CIETY.

word was that I heard. I stood between the two ; I was nearer to Mr. 
Cashell than to Mr. O’Connor. I think I had a better opportunity of 
hearing the word than Mr. Cashell had. I saw several duels, and my 
opinion is that this was a fair one.

Cross-examined by Mr. Franks.— I heard some word given ; I do not 
know what the word was ; on that word being given the deceased fired. 
I do not believe Mr. Morris is deaf, nor do I believe Mr. John O ’Connell 
is deaf. I  do not know where Mr. John O ’Connell was. Mr. Morris, 
who heard the word so distinctly, was not in the field. (To a juror) I 
considered the duel a very fair one.

H ere the defence closed.

T H E  C H A R G E .

Gentlemen— T he prisoner, Rowan Cashell, stands charged with the 
wilful murder of Henry Arthur O ’Connor, and I shall now proceed to 
detail to you the evidence as I have noted it down. Beginning with that 
of Surgeon Busteed’s, he states he was on the ground, and heard two 
shots fired, and from his evidence he will give you to understand that the 
second shot might be quicker that it was. That is as much as Surgeon 
Busteed’s evidence amounts to. Mr. Richard Quill was in the billiard 
room at a difference that happened between the deceased and the 
prisoner ; it happened about a bet of a half a crown, for which this un­
fortunate young man lost his life. Y ou should be particular in observing 
that the first offensive words were used by the deceased, who said, on the 
prisoner’s denying he had lost the bet, “ You shall pay me, or (accom­
panied by an oath) you shall not play at this table,” that is to say, gentle­
men, he should be excluded from this society. T o  this language the 
prisoner made answer in terms of not a very offensive nature : “ You are,” 
said he, “ but a boy, and I shall call upon your father,” whether to com­
plain perhaps of the conduct of deceased or not, but, however, that he 
would call upon his father. Deceased again demanded to be paid, insist­
ing he; won the wager, and the other denied, saying if he lost he would 
pay as he did everyone, to which deceased replied, “ I  don’t know that ; 
you don’t pay me, and “ I praise the ford as I find it.” So you see, gentle­
men, from a grain of mustard seed this dispute proceeded to a serious and 
angry quarrel, ending in the fatal consequences which followed. The 
prisoner, to whom insulting language was applied, used some expression 
as “ If you were, not,” said he, “ a brat of a boy I would turn you out of the 
room.” This, gentlemen, is the substance of the evidence of Mr. Quill, 
Lieutenant Arthur Morris gives you an account o f what took place next 
day ; tells you that he (very laudably certainly) came to Mr. Cashell to 
make it up, met the prisoner on the Mall, and walked with him into the
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Green ; there he explained to him the nature of what he came about, and 
required of Mr. Cashell to arrange the business ; proposed terms to Mr. 
Cashell, which he would not accede to, still saying “ he was but a boy, 
and that he would have nothing to say to him.” I  do not see, gentlemen, 
that this was indicative of a sanguinary nature. Mr. Morris’s object was 
reconciliation, Mr. Cashell still persisted he was but a boy. Deceased 
offered no apology for the adage used, “ I praise the ford as I find it.” 
Mr. Morris then Went away, and afterwards returned and proposed to 
leave the matter in dispute to Mr. Quill ; the prisoner refused— 
very unfortunately refused— to leave it to Mr. Quill, but proceeded 
to lay a whip on Mr. Morris’s shoulder, saying that he meant it 
as a horsewhipping; “ to take it as a horsewhipping.” A fter this, Mr. 
Morris tells you he was called back and a reconciliation took place, be­
tween him and Mr. Cashell ; this, unfortunately, did not continue long. 
Mr. Morris then said he was present next day, heard the shots, but could 
form no opinion about them. On cross-examination, he says the deceased 
posted the prisoner with a view to compel him to fight. Mr. Thomas 
O’Connor, the brother of the deceased, gave, you in testimony that all 
three went to the Mall for the express purpose of horsewhipping Cashell ; 
deceased offered no blow, but the witness says with a great deal of 
candour, they went for the purpose of horsewhipping Cashell. This 
horswhipping, by the code of laws of honour, is not required to be an 
actual horsewhipping, but ideal, and amounts to the same. H e tells you 
he took down a posting after the occurrence of the Mall affray, and after 
other postings had been made— these produced the duel. Mr. Yielding 
and Mr. McGillycuddy made an agreement that the parties discharge their 
pistols at the words “ Ready, F ir e ” ; the witness swears that he heard 
the words loud enough, the prisoner, he says, knew of the arrangement 
but said that he would prefer that each party should take his own time ; 
there is no doubt, it appears, of the agreement being known ; but did the 
prisoner hear the word? T hey were distant about twelve or fourteen 
yards (here Mr. Thom as O ’Connor said : “ M y Lord, I  did not say so. 1 

said I thought the seconds were about that distance from the principals, 
but the parties fought at the distance of eight yards at the express desire 
of the prisoner’s brother and his second, who refused to accede to the 
ordinary distance). Gentlemen, I must have misunderstood, but I do not 
think this observation can go to you now as evidence. T h e shots, he 
swears, were separate, one after the other ; the witness on hearing his 
brother’s shot instantly wheeled about, not wishing to witness a sight 
which must have been disagreeable to his feelings, did not keep his eye 
on his brother, but hearing no report of the second pistol turned round 
again and saw his brother ; this, he says, he had time to do before the
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second shot was fired ; he says that the deceased’s arm was down by his 
side, that he raised it, and then the prisoner fired. Deceased had but one 
pistol, the prisoner two. On cross-examination he states that he and 
brothers went to the Mall as the most public place to make the insult to 
be given to the prisoner as public as possible ; there was a posting made 
of the prisoner, the language of which was calculated to provoke, it was 
thus— “ Having been grossly insulted by Mr. Rowan Cashell, and having 
been denied the satisfaction of a gentleman, I feel myself under the 
necessity of posting Mr. Cashel as a coward and a bully, and therefore 
unfit for the society of gentlemen. Signed, Henry Arthur O ’Connor.” 
This must have gone far in producing what was then done. A  more 
exasperating thing was never written or made use of than was posted in 
the public places. Mr. O ’Connor, the witness, allows with much candour 
and truth, that his feelings would be much irritated by such language if 
it was applied to himself, and says he rebuked his servant for shoutiçg on 
the occasion. H e does not know how many blows his brother may have 
given, but the posting was before the blows. He expected from the 
violence that there would be a fight, but he would rather there was not. 
H e then adds that he considered a duel as inevitable, and that there were 
numbers on the ground. Gentlemen, it appears to me as if these kind of 
things were a pastime here. He states the posting by Mr. Cashell was 
before the affray on the Mall, but after the posting by deceased. Mr. 
Jam es O ’Connor, another brother, proved the handwriting of Mr. Cashell 
to the posting. H e said the prisoner stepped a short step, turned his 
person, levelled and fired, and that the prisoner had been on terms of 
familiarity with their family. On cross-examination he agrees with his 
brother’s evidence as to thei aggravation given to Mr. Cashell, and that 
he could not help fighting ; he says the prisoner posted the deceased in 
consequence of the prior posting by the; deceased. Samuel Morris heard 
two shots, the first as soon after the word as it could be fired, the next 
a short time after. The next witness was Joseph O ’Connor. H e appears 
as an amateur. H e swore, gentlemen, that one had one pistol and the 
other two ; this, gentlemen, can be of no weight, as there was no intention 
of firing two shots for one. H e swears he heard one shot, as he expresses 
it, simultaneously with the word ; but he after says he meant very quickly 
after the word, the second shot in three or four seconds after ; he de­
scribed to you the position of the; prisoner, that he did not observe him 
alter it, but that he might have squared a little, and that they levelled 
together. William Collis next proved much the same. Francis Twiss 
saw the duel ; there was about a second, as much as you may reckon one, 
two ; this was as much as Mr. Tw iss’s evidence amounted to. Mr. John 
O ’Connell next sworn. H e does not admit that he was on the ground,
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but does that he heard the shots, that one was after he heard the word, 
the other after a lapse (a pause was his expression), such as he may take 
aim in ; he says the day before the duel, on the Mall, he heard a buz, 
he went up to the crowd and heard the deceased address Mr. Cashell, the 
words he did not know, on which prisoner made a stroke at the deceased, 
when deceased gave prisoner a blow, and repeated the blow severely ; 
this was on Sunday, the day before the duel. There was a great ferment 
caused by the posting put up by the deceased on the Castle gate. Mr. 
O’Connell does not hesitate to say on his cross-examination that there 
was heat of blood in the prisoner, that the blows received and the double 
posting continued in his mind until the next day, that the three young 
gentlemen came up very quietly, but certainly, gentlemen, not on a very 
quiet purpose, to flog the prisoner. Mr. John Hurly was present) "heard 
the shots,' but did not mark the interval ; it might have been enough to 
take aim, but not a deliberate aim. H e would come to no conclusion as 
to the time necessary to take aim ; one man may take a longer time than 
another, but he does not know that the prisoner took more time than was 
necessary to take aim in, as he considers men will differ in that respect. 
Gentlemen, I will now proceed to the evidence for the defence. The wit­
nesses were Messrs. Mason and McGillycuddy. The first, Mr. Mason, 
told you that he stood nearer to where the word was given than the 
prisoner did. H e did not hear the word “ F ir e ” ; he will not say it was 
not given, but he says the shot may have been fired with the word— as 
another witness expressed it, simultaneously with it ; the prisoner fired 
a short time after, as “ one, tw o” ; he observed no change of position on 
the part of the prisoner, and concludes by saying he thought everything 
was fair. On cross-examination he admits, as before, an interval between 
the shots, that hei is a relative of the prisoner’s ; I do not know, gentlemen, 
that any such remark has been made on any of the witnesses on the part 
of the prosecution when the brothers of the deceased were examined ; he 
does not say the word “ F ir e ” was not given, but that if it was, it was in a 
low voice, and that if he, who was nearer the party giving it, could not hear 
it, it was no wonder Cashell, who was further away, should not ; he also 
considers if one party fires before his time, it was reasonable the other 
should delay his fire. Here, gentlemen, according to Mr. Mason’s idea, 
it would appear that Mr. Cashell delayed for the word justly, and if the 
other fired before his time Mr. Cashell’s delay was an adherence to the 
agreement. Gentlemen, I observe a consistency between both sides of 
the evidence, except that some heard the words, others did not. Mr. 
McGillycuddy deposes that he heard but one word, and that then the 
deceased fired. H e stood nearer to the deceased than to the prisoner,
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and he was more likely to hear the word than the prisoner ; that he is 
conversant in matters of this nature, and that the duel was a fair one. 
Here, gentlemen, the evidence closes, and I am here to explain to you 
that two persons meeting, armed with deadly weapons, to fight a duel, 
should homicide ensue it is legal murder. The questions put relative to 
the provocation given seemed to me an attempt on the part of the 

. prisoner’s counsel to extenuate in that way the act of the prisoner. It is 
impossible the treatment of the deceased to prisoner could have subsided 
in his mind during the night ; if a falling out occurs overnight, the law 
says that the delay causes the heat of blood to subside ; the irritability 
must still have remained. It is the duty, gentlemen, of the judge to state 
the law distinctly on duels ; but as society is, unfortunately, governed by 
a code of its own— by the law of opinion, altogether discharging municipal 
law from it, there is scarcely an instance where juries will receive the law 
of the land, but conceive an allegiance; to honour as the law to go by ; 
but such provocation as this in a court of honour flesh and blood could 
not endure ; it was on this the witnesses on cross examination proved the 
consequent heat of blood, and the contumacious language of the unfortu­
nate deceased. T h e conduct of Cashell deprecated a  mortal collision with 
the deceased, but, gentlemen, they met the next day ; the treatment Cashell 
received must have degraded him in society ; if a duel did not ensue, accord­
ing to this code of laws of honour, he could not hold up his head in society 
after it. A s a judge of the K ing ’s Bench, I must deprecate that this law 
should countervail the laws of the land, and that we, unfortunately, cannot 
oppose this despotic law, by which, if a gentleman deny to accede to, he 
must be stigmatised as a coward, and which they are pleased to endure in 
preference to such humiliating feelings and degradation. A  man would 
rather throw himself on a jury than walk in society an isolated being ; 
and, gentlemen, I would be unwilling to say merely that “ one, two,” was 
a deliberate pause to take the life of another (if in a court of honour), but 
by the law of the land the going out and a homicide ensuing, the law 
constitutes it murder.

The; jury retired, and in a short time returned a verdict “ Not Guilty.”
Mr. Justice D ay then addressed the prisoner nearly to the following 

e ffect:— Mr. Cashell, you have some very respectable friends and con­
nections in this county, and I can assure you that you will be more likely 
by a proper attention to the duties of your profession to render yourself 
a useful member of society than by aspiring to the shocking and contempt­
ible character of a duellist. I am sure you must yourself feel more 
sensibly than any other man the unfortunate occurrence that has taken 
place, and I would recommend you as a friend in future to avoid all such
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places and societies as may have a tendency to produce such consequences. 
I trust that time will remove the affliction which has fallen on the family 
of the young man who has lost his life. The father has yet some 
very fine young men, two of whom have given evidence upon this trial, 
and I trust these very respectable young gentlemen will be a comfort to 
their family. It would be much to be wished that the unfortunate occur­
rence would be buried in oblivion, and that these families may be restored 
to the former friendly intercourse which subsisted between them. But per­
haps at present this may not be possible ; they have lost a very fine young 
man, and as I understand a young gentleman of very mild and amicable 
manners, so that it is possible this can only be a work of time.

Sheriff— Is Mr. Cashell to be discharged, my Lord?
Judge— Oh, yes. Mr. Cashell, you are discharged.
Copy of Informaton of Henry A. O’Connor, the deceased, sworn on 

8th day of August, 1815,  states:-—That in consequence of an altercation 
or dispute which took place between Rowan Cashell and Informant on 
Sunday, the 6th day of August, the said Rowan Cashell, on the evening 
of said day, sent Daniel McGillycuddy, Esq., of Tralee, to this informant 
with an hostile message to fight a duel with said Rowan Cashell on the 
following morning with pistols, which message he, the said informant, 
accepted, and on the following morning repaired to Ballyseedy, where 
and when the said informant met the said Rowan Cashell, armed with 
pistols, which he, the said Rowan Cashell, then and there loaded with 
powder and leaden balls, and informant and said Rowan Cashell having 
agreed to decide the dispute between them by the discharge of a case of 
pistols at one and the same time by word, that is to say, at the repeating 
of the word “ F ire” by Jam es Royce Yielding, Esq., of Tralee, according to 
the usage and manner of duelling between gentlemen. T h at although 
informant discharged or fired his pistol at the present instant the word 
“ F ire” was repeated by the said Mr. Y ielding, yet the said Rowan Cashell, 
with malice prepense and with the design of killing or depriving informant 
of his life, reserved his fire for a considerable time after the word “ F ir e ” 
was given, until he had stèpt forward a pace, levelled his pistol, and taken 
cool, deliberate, and premeditated aim at the body of informant. And 
this informant further saith, that perceiving the aforesaid deliberate aim 
he raised his pistol which had long been discharged with the intention to 
throw it at the said Rowan Cashell to deter him from the aforesaid aim, 
when the said Rowan Cashell maliciously fired and shot informant in the 
right side, informant being at the same time and for a considerable time 
before unarmed, and therefore not in a situation to put the said Rowan 
Cashell in any dread or terror of his life. And informant saith he is now
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languishing and has no hope of recovery from the wound maliciously 
inflicted on him by the said Rowan Cashell, and therefore craves the 
redress of the law in his behali. (Signed) Henry Arthur O ’Connor.

N O T E S.

W H e was son of F ran cis  C ashell, b y  his w ife, Sarah  Row an, whose sister was 
mother of the first Lad y Ventry. H is name appears in Dublin registry, 1820, as having 
an office in Capel Street. H e married first, 1816 , Alicia, only child of W illiam  Lawrence, of 
Silverm ines, county Tipperary, by his w ife M ary Harden, and secondly, Henrietta 
Am elia, w idow  of Frederick Bennett.

O T h e  O’Connor fam ily  owned then, and I  believe still own, property near 
C ausew ay, county K erry .

(3) R obert D ay, m em ber of a  well-known K e rry  fam ily, ju d ge  of C ourt of 
K in g ’s Bench 1798 to 18 18  ; M .P ., for T uam  1783 to 1790, and A rd fert 1790 to 
1798 ; died 1841 ; m arried, first, M iss Potts, of London, and secondly, M ary, 
daughter of Bartholom ew F itzgera ld , M .D ., of Bandon. H is only daughter (by 
first wife) m arried S ir  Ed w ard  D enny, bart.

(4) T h ere  was a  Thom as Quin a  Bencher of K in g ’s Inns. G eorge Quin was 
“ c a lle d ”  about the sam e tim e, and another G eorge Quin in 18 15 , probably father 
and son, as they both had sam e address in  Leeson Street. I  can ’t id entify the 
counsel in  this case.

(5) G eorge Bennett was Crown Prosecutor M unster C ircuit, and father of the 
M unster bar. H e was “ c a lle d ”  in 1800. P ro bab ly  a brother-in-law of Penne- 

father (w h o se . w ife w as Ja n e  Bennett), and son of John Bennett, judge of 
K in g ’s Bench, b y  Ja n e , daughter of Jonathan Lovett, of Liscom be, B ucks. H e 
m arried a daughter of C ap tain  T o ler K in gsley .

(6) A fterw ards S ir  Joh n  F ra n k s, ju d ge  of Suprem e Court, B en gal ; born 1760 ; 
m arried three times— (1) C atherine, daughter of Thom as f  ranks, of C arrig , 
county C ork ; (2 ) Ja n e , daughter of John M arshall ; (3) Sarah  W ollaston, daughter 
of W m . O’R egan , barrister-at-law.

(ri T h e great D aniel O’C onnell, the “ L ib e ra to r ,”  of D errynane A bbey.

®  Stephen H en ry R ice , assistant barrister for K erry .

Cl P robab ly  R ich ard  Pennefather, K .C ., afterwards one of the B arons of the 
E xch eq u er, who m arried Ja n e  B ennett,. See note 5-

(IO) R obert D ay, of Lohercannon, near T ra lee , “ ca lled ”  in  1802. H e m arried 
C hristian , daughter of W illiam  M arshall. H e was nephew of the jud ge, and son 
of Rev. Joh n  D ay, b y  L u cy , daughter of the K n igh t of K erry .

0 0  I  am  unable to identify this man. T h ere were’ three of the nam e “ c a lle d ”  
— one in  1795, one in  1802, and one in  18 1 1 .

(I2> C ornelius L y n e , a  C orkm an and well-known wit of the M unster bar, 
fam iliarly  called “ Con of the hundred b o ttles.”

('3) Afterw ards S ir  M ichael, first C atholic M aster of the R olls after em ancipation, 
and father of S ir  B rian , present baronet, b y  B id e lia , daughter of D aniel K e lly , E sq .

(14) O f D unloe C astle , near K illa rn e y  ; m arried, 1787, E lizabeth , daughter of 
P atrick  C reagh, E sq ., b y  M argaret Trant.
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G slEldest son of M artin Law lor, of C astlelough, K illa rn ey , b y  his wife, M ary 
Anne M cCarthy, of K nocknagree, county C ork.

*l6> H e probably hailed  from  Listowel.

lu) Probably Jam es G orham , hotel proprietor, K illarn ey .

b ® H e  was agent to the K enm are estate.

I1®  H e was of C astlequin ; m arried, 1788, M ary , daughter of Je ffre y  O’Connell, 
of Portm agee, and died 1822.

6°) Son of the above, born 17 8 9 ; m arried M ary A nn, daughter of D aniel C ronin, 
of Park, K illarney.

(2I> The identity of this m an has baffled me. I am  not certain whether the 
name is Goff or G aff.

(2® He may have been Michael, son of Admiral De Courcey, by his wife, Ann, 
daughter of Conw ay Blennerhassett, E s q ., of K illo rg lin , and brother of Lord  
Kingsale.

G3) This fam ily had extensive ram ifications in K e rry , so that it is not easy to 
identify this juror, but I take him  to have been John, of Coum duff, R ecorder of 
Dingle, who m arried a M iss C reagh , and died in 1840.

G4) A merchant in Killarney and Tralee.

(25) An Edw ard M orphy m arried A rabella , niece of E useb iu s M cG illicuddy—  
on whom see m y note further on— but whether he was the ju ro r . I  am  not able 
to say.

(2®H e was M/D. ; born 17 8 9 ; died, s .p ., 18 3 0 ; m arried , 18 18 , his cousin, 
E llen , daughter of Jam es H ickson. He was son of John Busteed, b y  his wife, 
Catherine, daughter of W illiam  H illia rd , of L istrim .

G7)He served in  the “ L o n d o n ,”  98 guns, under C aptain  S ir  H arry  N eale. H e 
married Elizabeth, daughter of Sam uel Se a ly , of M aglass, county K e rry , and was 
Nephew of M aurice Q uill, surgeon, 3 1s t  R egim ent, who died 1824, and on whom 
there is a  most eulogistic notice in  the “  G entlem an’s M agazin e”  of that date.

(2® Lieutenant M orris and Sam uel M orris, Provost of T ra lee , were of B a lly- 
beggan, and members of an old K e rry  fam ily.

(29) Jam es Royse Y ie ld in g, of T ra lee , m arried H arriett, daughter of Christopher 
Hilliard, of L istrim . O nly son of John Y ie ld in g , barrister-at-law , b y  E lizabeth, 
daughter of Thom as H en ry R oyse, of Nantenan, county L im erick .

C°) See note to L ieutenant A rthur M orris.

(3 1) Brother of Margaret Ruth Collis. See  note to Francis T w iss. H e married his 
first cousin, Catherine, daughter of R ev. Sam uel C ollis, and was, I believe, 
Customs Surveyor of D ingle.

(32) Son of G eorge Tw iss, H igh  Sheriff of K e rry  in  1802, b y  H onoria, daughter 
of W illiam  M eredith, of D icksgrove. H e m arried M argaret R uth, daughter of 
Edward Collis, o f Lism ore, county K erry.

(33) The “ L iberator’ s b ro th er.”  H e was of G renagh , and grand-uncle of the 
present head of the D errynane fam ily, D aniel O’Connell, D .L ., J .P .

(34) C lerk of the Crown and P eace for K erry . H e m arried A nn a M aria 
Theresa, daughter of Col. H ill, o f M ount H ill, A rm agh, by E lizabeth , daughter 
of R ichard K irw an, of C regg  Castle.
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(35) W illiam  M ason m arried A gnes E a g a r . H e was of same K e rry  fam ily  a s  

E lizabeth  M ason, m other of the patriot R obert Em m et.

(36) Query Thom as Upton, K.C ., afterwards M .P. for, and Recorder of Derry.

(37) Of fam ily  of M cG illicuddy of the R eeks, born 1754, m arried Anne, daughter 
of Jam es F itzgerald , of B a llyellen , county Carlow . H e was son of Cornelius 
M cG illicuddy, b y  C atherine, daughter of R ichard  Chute, of T u llygarro n .

€ighteenth Century ZTrade C ircutars and in v o ic e s  
of C orK  t r a d e r s .

B y  R O B E R T  D A Y ,  F.  S.  A.

H E  shop bills, trade circulars, and invoices of the eight­
eenth century are rarely met with. A s a rule, when 
death occurs, they are consigned to the dustbin or 
kitchen fire, and are seldom laid aside and preserved. 
In many ways they are of much local historical interest 
as preserving merchants names and where they traded, 
and in throwing sidelights upon the wants, dress, and 

fashion of the period, of the prices then current of goods made in Cork, 
the manufacture of which has long ceased to exist. The comparative 
isolation of the city in the eighteenth century, made the citizens rely more 
upon their own resources for the supply of many articles, and industries 
grew up and manufactures were started that for many years continued to 
flourish and thrive and attain the highest excellence. Amongst these 
were art products, notably gold and silversmiths’ work and cut glass, for 
both of which Cork was famous. Specimens of these are still eagerly 
sought after, and so much coveted by collectors that their price has 
steadily appreciated, and will continue to do so more and more in the 
future.

I have copied thei following contemporary records of Cork-made glass 
from the “ Overseer,” a local paper, printed for Roderick O ’Connor, 
January n th , 1 8 1 7 : — “ Waterloo Glass House. From his forming the 
W aterloo Glass House Company, which is now at work, and giving 
employment to over 100 persons, Mr. Dan Foley  may take Lord  Foley ’s 
arms of “ ut prosum,” to do good, and be really styled a Lord  indeed. His 
workmen are well selected, from whose superior skill the most beautiful 
glass will shortly make its appearance to dazzle the eyes of the Public and 
outshine that of any competitor. H e is to treat his men at Christmas

This content downloaded from www.corkhist.ie

All use subject to CHAS Terms and Conditions

Digital content (c) CHAS 2013




